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Our Vision
Our vision is to be acknowledged as the leading Australian & New Zealand property service group

when measured against world best practice.

Our Mission
Our Clients

To identify and satisfy the needs of our clients by providing asset management services where quality,

safety and cost effectiveness are achieved through a commitment to excellence.

Our People
To provide a workplace environment where participation enables our people to achieve a satisfying

and rewarding career.

Our Shareholders
To pursue all aspects of the Company's business in a responsible, efficient and profitable manner,

thereby optimising the interests of its shareholders.

PRINCIPAL OFFICE

REGIONAL OFFICE
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Chairman’s and Managing 
Director’s Report

Programmed Maintenance Services Limited (PMS) is

the classical supplier of commercial maintenance

outsourcing services in Australia and New Zealand.

It enjoys a position of leadership in the fast growing

commercial re-paint market whilst maintaining

attractive profit margins and offering superior service

to a diverse range of commercial clients.  PMS is a

growth stock which is best exemplified by our results

for the year ended 31st March 2000.  Total group

revenue reached $121.1 million, which is 21.0%

better than the previous year and operating profit

after interest and tax was $12.676 million.  This

profit includes an exchange loss of $0.387 million

and a one off non-operating gain of $2.557 million

due to the changes in the company tax rate and its

future effect on our receivables from contracts in

progress.  On a like-for-like basis, group operating

profit after tax and interest was 45% up on the

previous year and 8% greater than the forecast set

out in the Prospectus issued at the time of listing

PMS.

The growth in revenue and earnings has been

generated not only from the Group’s painting

activities but an increased contribution has been

made by our non-painting activities, such as Grounds

Management, Building and Engineering Services.

The New Zealand painting business has continued to

grow rapidly, as our unique painting programme

concept is developed in that country.

With our broad mix of customers spread throughout

many industry sectors, together with an ongoing

trend towards outsourcing non-core activities, an

ideal environment in which the PMS business can

grow was provided.

The theme adopted in this Report reflects your

Company’s values based on “Our People, Our

Commitment and Our Success”.

Our People

The PMS Group now consists of over 1,000 staff and

tradespeople throughout Australia and New Zealand.

We are investing significantly in training as a way of

developing skills to better enable our people to

provide an improved and more efficient service to

our customers and to take advantage of the many

opportunities available within the Company.  

Geoff Tomlinson
Chairman

Max Findlay
Managing Director

Programmed Maintenance Services Limited • Annual Report 2000
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We currently have over 70 apprentices at various

stages of development within our programme.

Occupational Health & Safety continues to be a

major focus within PMS.  We recently appointed a

new Human Resources Manager who oversees our

national health and safety systems, payroll and

general HR issues.  Together with our existing quality

systems, we are committed to ensuring that the

highest standards of safety and quality are

maintained throughout the Company.

Our objective is to continue to recruit, develop and

retain the best calibre people possible to ensure the

continued success and growth of your Company into

the future.

Our Commitment

Our commitment to long term business relationships

is no better demonstrated than with the renewal of

our long-term contracts.  Some of the more

significant contracts renewed over the last 12 months

include the South Pacific Tyres contract in New

Zealand, Toowoomba Grammar School and, more

recently, Caulfield Racecourse.  Also, we now have

well over 800 schools and tertiary institutions under

maintenance programmes in both Australia and New

Zealand.  Of particular note is the renewal of the

Moonee Valley Racing Club in Victoria for a further

period of twelve years.  At the conclusion of this

contract, we will have continuously maintained this

facility for an unprecedented 42 years.

Our commitment is further demonstrated by the

implementation of a “Customer Feedback”

programme throughout the Company.  Since its

inception, we have received over 5,000 responses

from our customers.  These form the basis of

awareness of our customers’ needs and the basis of

our continuous improvement and operative training

programmes throughout the Company.

Our Success

During the year, a record $90 million in new long-

term contracts were written with our business spread

amongst some 3,400 customers throughout Australia

and New Zealand.  Because of the success of our

unique product in Australia and, more recently, in

New Zealand we are progressing our strategy to

identify an existing painting contractor in the U.K. to

provide a platform from which to launch our

painting programmes in that country.  We are

committed to a strategy of continuous growth in

Australia and New Zealand in the traditional

maintenance painting market and also the addition

of other building and property related activities, as a

means of satisfying the broader range of outsourced

services now required by our clients.

We have commenced the new financial year on a

positive note with a continuing strong volume of new

business being written, particularly in the health,

tourism and aged care sectors.

Continuing opportunities for growth present

themselves in all areas and, together with our

dedicated team of people, we look forward to

another year of success throughout the PMS Group.

While your Directors are pleased with the current

performance of the Company, we are disappointed

with the share price, which closed at $1.44 per share

on 14th June 2000.  We suspect the market does not

fully understand the attractiveness of our business

model and the strong growth prospect going

forward; a challenge we are now attempting to

address.

On behalf of the Board, our sincere thanks and

appreciation are extended to all of our people for

their contribution to the ongoing success of your

Company and to our clients for their loyalty during

the year.



• “Our staff remain proud of their work and strive to continuously 
improve the outcomes for our clients and our company.”

• Record Group Revenue of 
$121.2 Million

• “...the quality of our people is 
crucial to our ability to meet the 
needs of our clients.”
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The PMS business was established in 1951 in Victoria,

Australia as a commercial painting contractor.  PMS

pioneered and developed the ‘programmed

maintenance’ concept in the late 1950’s and has

since established a dominant market share in its core

painting business in Australia and New Zealand.  PMS

has also expanded its maintenance philosophy into a

range of related service areas.

Our core business is based on our long- term

maintenance painting programmes.  Over recent years,

we have expanded our range of property-related

services to include grounds management, engineering

and building services, landscape and horticultural

services, and drain and sewer maintenance.  The

timeline below highlights the geographical and key

business milestones of our history.

Based on our foundation as a specialized painting
operation, we have sought to expand our range of
services, which have helped us provide a more
comprehensively integrated service package to our
customers.  Our business philosophy centres on
providing first-rate property maintenance services to
our clients, utilizing our system of long-term
maintenance, as well as traditional one-off contracts.

The success which PMS has delivered to date in both
its painting and non-core businesses, relies on a set of
‘common core competencies’, shown in the diagram
below.

Painting Services
The Australian painting division is the traditional
business of PMS and, together with the New Zealand
painting division, forms the core of PMS’s operations.
Our painting programmes are tailored to suit the needs
of each individual customer and structured to ensure
that maintenance is provided at an appropriate level.
The painted surfaces offer protection to the building
structure and the tailored programme is designed to
ensure surfaces remain in a sound, clean condition
throughout the programme.

Services offered by the painting divisions
include long-term maintenance painting
programmes, interior and exterior one-off
painting, building condition reporting,
building repairs, property surveys, signwriting,
industrial coatings, and sourcing and
installation of signage.

The painting division has national coverage in
both Australia and New Zealand.

Profile
Corporate

Our
profile
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Grounds Services
The grounds management

division of PMS develops and

maintains gardens and grounds.

Services offered by this division

include maintenance,

management, landscaping,

weed control, fertilisation,

irrigation, horticulture, removal

services, arboriculture and turf

management.  Major customers

include councils, semi-

government authorities and

departments, schools, retirement

and aged care facilities and

hospitals.

Engineering
Services
The engineering division

provides services, including

critical asset identification and

management and maintenance

of plant, building, machinery

and computer systems.  The

division has generally focused

on the health, accommodation

and education sectors over the

last five years.  A proportion of

this division’s customers take

grounds management and

painting services as either part

of a totally integrated

maintenance package or as an

add-on maintenance service

Industrial Services
Through its subsidiary, Barry Bros. Specialised Services, PMS provides a range
of industrial and underground asset maintenance services, primarily focusing
on sewer and drain cleaning, inspection and maintenance.  A large
proportion of Barry Bros.’ work is generated from competitive tender
processes.  Many of Barry Bros.’ customers fall outside those covered by
PMS’s other divisions because of the different nature of the type of work
undertaken.

In recent years, there has been significant rationalization in the industrial
services market.  Outsourced work from corporatized water boards and
amalgamated local councils, has tended to be awarded to organizations such
as Barry Bros., who can offer demonstrated expertise and resources to
undertake these contracts.

PMS has competitive advantages against potential new entrants to the
industrial services market.  In particular, the high capital cost of equipment,
the specialized technology, advantages for customers in a one-stop industrial
plumbing service and the need for well-trained employees and management
infrastructure, all make it difficult for others to enter the market and become
a significant competitor.
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Corporate
Profile

“Firbank has been pleased to work in
partnership with Programmed Maintenance
Services Limited for many years and looks
forward to continuing the relationship.”

Dr Jane Munro, Firbank Grammar

Left to Right: Allan Wood, Business Manager, Firbank Grammar
Colin Frauenfelder, PMS Engineering Business Manager
Dr Jane Munro, Principal, Firbank Grammar
Max Findlay, PMS Managing Director
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Executive
Management

Team
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Executive Management Team

Back from left:

Stephen Christie, Group Financial Controller 

Graham Snell, General Manager Administration 

Bryan Horskins, General Manager Business Development 

Jim Sherlock, Human Resources Manager 

Danny Shafar, National Marketing Manager 

Ian Craig, General Manager Northern Region 

Max Findlay, Managing Director

Front from left:

Rowan Galbraith, General Manager Southern Region 

Denis Groves, General Manager UK Project 

Nigel Caigou, General Manager New Zealand
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Painting
Division

Left to Right: Bruce Olds, PMS State Manager SA Painting Division
Chris Backstrom, Bursar St Ignatius’ College Adelaide
David Forwood, PMS Regional Manager 
Grounds Division

Left to Right: John Ryan, PMS Foreman
Scott Butler, Manager Contacts and Projects M.C.G.
Denis Groves, PMS General Manager UK Project
Stephen Batty, Operations Manager M.C.G.

“I like the flexibility of having
building and grounds on a

structured maintenance plan.
Specifically with the

professional advice which is
available on colour selection,

shrubs and follage . . .  
a truly professional service.”

Chris Backstrom,  
St Ignatius’ College Adelaide

Ourteam

The Painting Division includes
our Australian state business
units divided into the
Southern Region of Victoria,
Tasmania, South Australia,
Western Australia and the
Northern Territory, and the
Northern Region  comprising
New South Wales and
Queensland.  This Division
also includes our New
Zealand Painting and our
national Corporate Imaging
businesses.

Operational Review Painting
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Southern Region
Whilst the Victorian business experienced a
difficult trading year, some significant long-term
maintenance painting contracts were renewed
with Flemington and Moonee Valley Racecourses
and, more recently, the Caulfield Racecourse.

New offices were established in Ballarat and
Albury to further our regionalization plans and
the Melbourne branch has been segmented into
three more manageable operating units:  Metro
North, Metro Central and Metro Southern, in
order to better service our metropolitan
customers in the Northern, Eastern and
Mornington Peninsula areas.  

Our Tasmanian business experienced a very
tough first half of the year.  We subsequently
rationalised and restructured the business and it
has, over the last five months, been providing a
positive contribution to profit and we expect this
improvement to continue.

South Australia achieved growth of 13% in
volume with a record 71% of sales in long- term
maintenance painting contracts.  We have
invested in additional resources in project
management and estimating to  continue the

growth in this business and plan to establish a
new regional office in the second half of the
financial year.

Western Australia achieved growth of 14% in
volume, which was underpinned by the
establishment of our Heavy Duty Coatings
Division in April 1999.  The first half of the year
was difficult,  but a significant upturn in the
market was experienced in the second half with
the mining industry generating significant
optimism and a number of large infrastructure
and resource projects poised to start
construction.

Our Northern Territory branch, with its office in
Darwin, delivered strong growth in volume with
major contracts in the hospitality, mining,
education and racing industries.

In summary, we expect improved profit
contributions from all of the States and Northern
Territory with significant improvements in Victoria
and Tasmania in the 2000/2001 financial year.

Left to Right: Jason Groves, PMS Senior Area Manager
Michael Lynn, Business Manager, 
King David School
Michele Bernshaw, Principal, 
King David School
Mark Collins, PMS Manager 
Grounds Division 

“PMS Engineering, Painting
and Grounds performed an
efficient and effective make

over of our facilities.”
Michael Lynn,   

King David School 

Ourteam

Operational Review Painting

Australia
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Left to Right: Dirk Karrell, PMS Project Manager
Darren Redburn, PMS Project Foreman
Craig Pocock, General Manager Skyrail Pty Ltd

Left to Right: Mal Watts, Warehouse Distribution Manager, Bullivants
Bruce Adamson, PMS Area Manager

“We received an upfront repaint in a first
class manner with a spread of costs and
the knowledge that the buildings would
be maintained over the course of the 7
year programme.  We were also able to

extend the contract to cover new
buildings with ease.  All work is carried

out in a professional manner and the site
is left exceptionally clean.”

Brian Pritchard, 
Plant Engineer, Bullivants

Painting

“Programmed Maintenance Services
provided cost effective solutions to

our specific maintenance
requirements.”

Craig Pocock, Skyrail Pty Ltd

Operational Review Painting

Northern Region
The Northern Region provided a result in excess of budget with
an exceptional result from New South Wales.  The result could
have been even better had it not been for the unusually high
number of days impacted upon by wet weather.  
During the year new branches were opened on the Central
Coast and Orange to better service a growing demand for our
painting services.  We also opened a branch on the Gold Coast
and plans are well underway to further increase our branch
network in Queensland.  Growth in our painting services has
been very strong in the sectors of education, aged care and
retirement, tourism and from our existing customer base.
Particularly pleasing has been the continued development of
our Building Maintenance Services Division, which provides
core building maintenance as a value added service to existing
painting clients.  Future plans include extending this service into
our Brisbane office and larger branch offices. 

We are continuing our commitment to the training of  our
tradespeople and staff.  We have introduced ongoing training
courses for all employees to assist them in performing their
roles with greater efficiency and at the same time  providing
our customers with an improved  level of service.  All
employees are continually being made aware of their
responsibilities in relation to occupational health and safety
requirements.   Of importance is our commitment to
apprenticeship training and intake of graduate trainees.  These
two streams of recruitment have proved invaluable in
broadening our management base from which we can ensure
future business growth.  
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New Zealand

During the year, three major staff training
sessions were held in each of the four New
Zealand Regions.  They involved a cross-
functional group of painting, supervisory and
management staff, together in all the sessions
for the first time. Part of the training was
experiential to provide a safe environment in
which to learn, and part was practical to apply
these lessons to the painting trade.  We also
involved key customers to add some reality
and provide invaluable feedback.

Our customer feedback programme formed
the basis of internal staff reward and
acknowledgment.  Our average feedback
customer rating for New Zealand was 4.2 out
of a possible 5, up from 3.9 the previous year.
Our Palmerston North branch returned the
highest customer satisfaction rating, with 48%
of all projects worked receiving an average
customer score in excess of 4.5 out of 5.

The business has now developed across a broad
range of markets, however, the education sector
continues to provide strong growth.  A record of
$27.5M in new long-term maintenance contracts
was written for the year.

Significant long-term contracts were renewed
with Nestle, South Pacific Tyres and
Manukau Institute of Technology.  Large
customers who commenced long-term
programmes with us included Lion
Breweries, Fisher & Paykel, Fletcher
Challenge, Anchor Products, Institute of
Geological & Nuclear Sciences,
Invercargill and Christchurch City Council
Civic Centres.

Major developments in New Zealand during the
year included new branches opening in Auckland
North Shore, Rotorua, New Plymouth and Nelson.
This provided the opportunity for internal
promotion and development  of staff selected
from both the field and management.  Our annual
maintenance service procedure was also improved
to provide our customers with more clearly
documented information prior to each
maintenance service.  Our New Zealand business
commenced by developing the core PMS culture
and therefore providing a sound foundation from
which to continue our growth and retain our staff.  

Left: Nigel Caigou, PMS General
Manager New Zealand, John O’Neil,

CEO Taranaki Hospital, & Scott
Hollingshead, Commercial Services
Manager Taranaki Hospitial

Below: Taranki Health’s 
Base Hospital

Operational Review Painting
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Corporate
Imaging

Left to Right: Jim Bullock, Marketing Manager, John Deere Limited
Craig Millar, PMS General Manager Corporate Imaging

Our Corporate Imaging

Division, specialising in all

aspects of corporate

identification, emerged out of

the former illuminated sign

manufacturing business, Prosign

Advertising, established by PMS

in 1987.  This Division is one of

only a handful of organisations

in the industry capable of

providing a national service,

which includes:

• design and engineering of a

full range of corporate

identification and fascia

treatments;

• computer generated graphics and layouts

providing visual impact of proposed signage

design and location;

• signwriting performed in accordance with strict

compliance to corporate standards;

• installation and maintenance of all signage by

qualified and experienced technicians;  and

• project management and coordination of large

scale, national identification programmes.

The past year has seen a complete restructuring of

the Corporate Imaging Division in order to capitalise

on its strengths in the market while extracting value

“PMS Corporate Imaging
undertook the reimaging of

over 140 of our sites 
throughout Australia and New
Zealand which included some

very remote areas.  
The successful completion of
the programme was greatly

assisted by the close working
relationship between our

companies”.
Jim Bullock, 

John Deere Limited

Operational Review Corporate Imaging

from its national operational.  The strategies

implemented at the beginning of last year have

paid off with a marked turnaround of this Division’s

financial performance. 

As part of the restructuring programme, our

Brisbane manufacturing facilities were closed and

the factory equipment sold under a joint venture

arrangement to Colorlux, Thailand, a subsidiary of

the global Colorlux group of companies based in

Denmark. 

Corporate Imaging has also developed a national

network of approved manufacturing contractors

from whom we can draw upon, in order to

accommodate smaller or more time-sensitive

projects which may not be suited to overseas

manufacture, thereby providing a high degree of

flexibility in the manufacturing process.  Our

Division is now well positioned to focus on organic

growth in the coming year, having re-established

itself as a low cost producer in the industry and will

continue to benefit from its long established, high

profile reputation and the synergies created

through other PMS operations. 
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Our Grounds Management Division wrote a

record $5.3 million of new, long- term contracts

in the year.  Much of this work was developed

from both our existing Painting customers and

add-on work from existing Grounds customers.

Major contracts written in the year include the

renewal of the City of Tea Tree Gully contract in

South Australia, the project management of

major landscape redevelopment at St. Ignatius’

College, the extension of our contract with the

South Australian Housing Trust, The King’s

School, Sydney and Camberwell Grammar

School in Melbourne.

Our Division continues to provide a full

range of horticultural services from design,

construction, management and

maintenance services to a broad industry

base, including schools, local government,

aged care and commercial properties.

Our Grounds staff remain proud of their

work and strive to continuously improve

the outcomes for our clients and our

Company.  This Division is committed to

training and developing our people.  With a

high ratio of apprentices,  we are committed to

the ongoing development of the industry and

offer many opportunities to young people.

Our Grounds Management team has seen many

new faces join at all levels of its structure.

Growth within this Division has provided

excellent opportunities for many staff to develop

within the team.

In the coming year, we will focus on our core

customers and market sectors.  Productivity and

quality service outcomes will be the key focus

for our operational team, with growth in the key

markets the focus of our marketing team.  We

look forward to continued development and

expansion in line with our  overall strategic plan.

Grounds
Division

Left to Right: Paul Ridgway, Business Manager, Camberwell Grammar
Colin Black, Principal, Camberwell Grammar
Mark Collins, PMS Manager Grounds  Division

Operational Review Ground Division

Oursuccess
Above: Bernadette Murray, 

Gardener PMS Grounds Division
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PMS Engineering Division has enjoyed a pleasing

growth pattern over the year.  Previous commitments in

establishing and proving the product, customer service,

professional staff development and integrating our

services into the Company are now paying dividends.  

The focus on extended engineering maintenance

and building services’ programmes has helped the

Engineering Division stabilise its workload, grow the

business and generate consistent returns over the

last year. 

Contracted maintenance management work and the

development of proactive maintenance programmes

remain our core service.  At the same time, commercial

building services works involving property

refurbishment, upgrading and pre-painting

maintenance contributed to our growth over the year.

In both cases our engineering team demonstrated a

high level of proficiency in using our computerised

planned maintenance system, managing the building

services works and communications between each PMS

Division and our clients.

The encouraging growth in Victoria for our Engineering

Division business will be sustainable through marketing

and promotion.  Our objective in 2000/2001 is to

actively position the Victorian engineering operation as

the Division’s flagship.

Our South Australian engineering business is continuing

to grow, having doubled its work commitments in the

housing maintenance and property refurbishment

streams.  Planned maintenance contracts and building

assessment projects are now contributing to our profit

in South Australia.

Engineering 
Division

Our
success

Left to Right: Colin Baker, General Manager Centra St Kilda Road
Colin Frauenfelder, PMS Engineering Business Manager

“We have a cost effective maintenance
partnership with PMS”

Colin Baker, Centra Hotel

Our move into New South Wales has been cautious.
Quality service and customer service outcomes were
deemed paramount to long- term survival in the
Sydney market.  Our Engineering Division is well
placed to pursue a more active marketing and
business development strategy in New South Wales
during 2000/2001.

Our Engineering Division people continue to display
a high level of commitment to PMS and
development of the business.  We have focused on
people development, personnel career paths and
long - term client partnerships.  Quality systems,
achieving required outcomes and customer
satisfaction, have been a focus of our team.
Consolidation of all PMS services in site-specific
projects has been another area of commitment.

Operational Review Engineering Division
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Equipment

This past year has seen the first full year of operation of

our Guzzler Vacuum Vehicles and each unit has been

operating in a wide range of new applications which has

allowed us to broaden our customer base.

During the year we introduced some major changes to

some of the combination units which allowed more

effective management of maintenance issues and

introduced for the first time a new remote control unit

that can operate the vehicle jetting and vacuum

components.  This system is more productive and

ensures a safer working environment for our operators.

Barry Bros.

Left to Right: Chris Keegan, Account Manager, Barry Bros
Howard Humffray, Project Director Transfield Obayashi 
Joint Venture
David Maple, General Manager Barry Bros.

The past year has seen some major developments
within the Barry Bros. business with significant increase
in the sales activity of the business. Much of this
development has been associated with longer term
contract business with several long term contracts being
signed with Australian Paper at Maryvale, Sydney Water,
an extension to the Sydney Airport Contract, the
continuation of the reactive work with Transfield
Maintenance and the chemical treatment of drains for
South East Water in Melbourne. 

During the past year we have worked closely with the
Transfield Obayashi Joint Venture on their construction
project on the Melbourne City Link Tunnel with  the
first stage having opened in April this year.  

Systems

The introduction of the PMS computer system
occurred in the second half of 1999 and this
allowed data access for all our branches. 

Our People

During the past twelve months the emphasis on
Training and Safety has significantly reduced the
number of workcare claims and we continue to
target processes needing mechanical aid to improve
health and safety in our business. 

There has been ongoing negotiation with our staff
on Enterprise Bargaining Agreements (EBA’s) and
we  now have two EBA’s in place and have
submitted an agreement in Queensland 

Initiatives

Barry Bros. introduced the Non Destructive Digging
concept in the latter part of last year. This concept
is the identification and verification of underground
services which is required to avoid damage to
services prior to excavation. 

The Year Ahead

We are implementing a five year strategy plan,
which covers equipment, customers, and operating
processes with an emphasis on developing
programmed long term activity. 

Operational Review Barry Bros. Specialised Services



PMS recognises that the quality of our people is critical
to our ability to meet the needs of our clients.  We are
committed to attracting, motivating and retaining the
best people and developing the skills of our employees
at all levels.
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Human 
Resources

Maintaining high levels of health and safety is of
paramount importance to our Company and
shareholders.  We believe that building a sustained
improvement in safety performance is fundamental in
achieving a competitive edge.  Our Company
endeavours to ensure that no person’s safety, whether
they are an employee, contractor, client or visitor is
compromised through any company activity. 

During the 1999/2000 financial year, our Company
appointed a National Occupational Health, Safety and
Training Manager whose key accountabilities are the
continued building of an OH&S mindset within the
organisation and the enhancement of technical and
leadership skills of our people.  This placement is
supported by the allocation of specific OH&S
performance objectives to state level coordinators who
support the local management in aligning the OH&S
systems with the business unit’s operational plans.

Continuous improvement forms an integral part of the
business performance management system.
Throughout the year, our Company’s health and safety
performance indicators showed consistent and
significant improvement.

We remain committed to producing quality outcomes
for our clients in the safest and most effective manner. 

Ourpeople
A key strategy in achieving this objective is our
commitment to providing employment opportunities
to young people.  Currently, about 16% of our
employees are engaged through apprenticeships and
traineeships.  In addition, we are seeking every
opportunity to extend employment to the people
who live in the many regional communities in which
we operate.

The long-term maintenance philosophy of our
business allows us to maintain a high level of
permanent employment, which encourages
commitment and quality on the part of our
employees and a significant investment in training on
the part of our Company.  We believe this is what sets
us apart from our competitors.

Our employees are encouraged to improve their
technical, professional and personal skills through
internal and external training opportunities and on-
the-job skill development.  This commitment is
reflected through mandatory induction training within
the Company and site specific inductions for
numerous clients.  During the 1999/2000 financial
year, training initiatives included sales and marketing
development, leadership programmes at management
and supervisory levels and project management
aimed at  tradespeople and supervisors.  In addition,
technical and equipment skills development occurred
for our operative staff.  

Above: Karen Jacoby - Croft, Senior Secretary, PMS Sydney Branch



17Programmed Maintenance Services Limited • Annual Report 2000

Our
The 1999/2000 year was largely focused on the

preparation of core systems in order to avoid

potential business impact from the millennium

bug.  As a part of this process, major upgrades

were conducted to accounting and operating

systems that provided additional functional

benefits as well as Y2K compliance.

A review of all internal systems commenced

during the year in conjunction with a review of

business process.  This review has already

identified a number of deficiencies within the

present structure that will be addressed in the

coming year.

Information
Technology

commitment

Within the next twelve months, a

number of major business systems will

undergo replacement and/or review in

order to strengthen critical operational

activities.  Amongst these will be the

estimating system, sales management

system, the wide area network

infrastructure, development of a

corporate intranet and the introduction

of an EIS (Executive Information System)

to provide relevant and more timely

management information.

These changes will enable Information

Technology services to achieve the goal

of providing a fully functional and

reliable system, which enhances the

business process and provides

appropriate access throughout the

enterprise.



Max Findlay
Managing Director, Aged 53

Max Findlay joined PMS in August 1988 and
was appointed Managing Director in March
1990.  Max has extensive industry experience,
including approximately 20 years of marketing
and general management in the industrial and
manufacturing industries. In his time with PMS,
Max has held the positions of Business

Development Manager, General Manager
and Managing Director.   He has a

BEc(Pol) from Monash
University and is a Fellow of

the Australian Institute of
Company Directors.

Max is also Chairman
of The PMS
Foundation.

Geoff Tomlinson
Chairman, Aged 53

Geoff Tomlinson is Chairman of Programmed
Maintenance Services Limited, Reckon
Ltd.,Medweb Ltd., and Funtastic Ltd.  He is the
Deputy Chairman of Neverfail Springwater Ltd.,
and Hansen Technologies Ltd.  Geoff is also a
Director of National Australia Bank Ltd., Amcor
Ltd., Mayne Nickless Ltd., Pineapplehead Ltd.,
and Mirrabooka Investments Ltd.  Geoff
has a BEc from the University of
Western Australia.

Brian Pollock
Non-Executive

Director, Aged 54 

Brian Pollock has over 30
years experience in the finance

and property industry with both AMP
Society for 11 years and National Mutual for 19
years. His current directorships include
Chairman, AXA Australia Property Management
Limited and NMFM Property Fund Management
and Director National Mutual Assets
Management Ltd.  Brian is also Chairman of
Industry Superannuation Property Trust.  He is a
Fellow of the Australian Property Institute and an
Associate of the Australian Insurance Institute.
He was National President of the Property
Council of Australia in 1993 and 1994.

From Left: Geoff Tomlinson, 
Susan Oliver, 
Max Findlay, 
Brian Pollock

Susan Oliver
Non-Executive
Director, Aged 49

Susan Oliver has held
senior management positions
in the Departments of Housing
and Construction and Industry, Science
and Resources and in the consulting companies
Invetech and Andersen Consulting.  Susan was
Managing Director of the Australian Commission
for the Future for three years from 1990.  Susan’s
professional expertise is in strategy, marketing,
technology strategy and scenario planning.  In
these areas she currently runs her own consulting
and advisory practice.  Susan also holds several
non-executive positions.  She is a non-executive
director of Transurban City Link, MBF and The
Swish Group Ltd., and is Chair of ScreenSound
Australia - the national screen and sound archive.
Susan began her career in the construction
industry and holds a degree of Bachelor of
Building (QS) with a major in building economics
from Melbourne University.

18 Programmed Maintenance Services Limited • Annual Report 2000

Our
people
Directors & Directors’ 

Profiles



The principal Corporate Governance practices, which

were put in place during the financial year were:

Board of Directors
The Board is responsible for the overall Corporate

Governance of the economic entity, including the

development of strategic plans, annual budgets,

management goals and the monitoring of these

goals.  The Board has established a Remuneration

Committee and Audit and Compliance Committee

to assist in its responsibility.

The Board
The names of the Directors of the Company at the date

of this statement are included in the Directors’ Report.

The Board consists of four Directors, one Executive

Director and three Non-Executive Directors.  The

Chairperson is a non-executive director.  Except for

the Managing Director, one-third of the Directors

retire by rotation each year but may offer themselves

for re-election for another three year period.

Appointment and Retirement of
Directors
The Board determines the terms and conditions

relating to the appointment and retirement of

Directors.  In the selection of a new non-executive

director, if required, the Board would seek the most

suitable person with an appropriate range of skills

and expertise.  The successful director would then

stand for election at the next annual general

meeting.
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Corporate
Governance

Independent Professional Advice
In the proper performance of their duties, each

Director has the right to seek a reasonable level of

professional advice on matters concerning the

Company at the Company’s expense after obtaining

the Chairman’s approval.

Ethical Standards
The Company endorses the need for all directors,

managers, office and field staff to maintain a high

standard of behaviour and business ethics in our day-

to-day business activities.

Management of Significant Business
Risks
The Board and senior management review significant

areas of potential business and legal risks when they

are identified.  Procedures to manage these risks are

implemented on a case-by-case basis.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee was established in

September 1999 to review and approve salary and

other benefits for the Managing Director and senior

management of the Company.

Members
Geoffrey Allan Tomlinson (Chairman)

Susan Mary Oliver

Brian John Pollock

The Remuneration Committee meets as required.

Audit and Compliance Committee
The Audit and Compliance Committee was established

by the Board in September 1999.

The current members of the Audit and Compliance

Committee are:

Brian John Pollock (Chairman)

Geoffrey Allan Tomlinson

Susan Mary Oliver

The responsibility of the Audit and Compliance

Committee include:

Reviewing the half-yearly and annual financial

statements prior to their approval by the Board.

Monitoring the effectiveness of internal control and

management information systems.

Liaising with the external auditors to ensure that

statutory audits are conducted in an effective manner.

Monitoring compliance with Corporations Law, 

Stock Exchange Listing Rules and other regulatory

authorities and financial institutions.



Financial Statements, 
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Directors' Report 
 

 

The Directors of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited submit herewith the Balance Sheet as at 31st March 2000, 
Profit and Loss Statement and Statement of Cash Flows for the financial year then ended.  In order to comply with the 
provisions of the Corporations Law, the Directors Report as follows: 
 
Directors 
 
The names of the Directors of the company during or since the end of the financial year are: 
 
Geoffrey Allan Tomlinson, Chairman Appointed 25th August 1999 
Maxwell John Findlay, Managing Director 
Susan Mary Oliver Appointed 25th August 1999 
Brian John Pollock Appointed 25th August 1999 
Sunil Chandiramani  Resigned 25th August 1999 
Mark Alan Silverstein  Resigned 25th August 1999 
Anil Thadani  Resigned 25th August 1999 
 
Particulars of the Directors are shown on page 18 of this Annual Report. 
 
Principal Activities 
 
The consolidated entity’s principal activities in the course of the financial year were the provision of property 
maintenance services to commerce, industry and government by way of: 
 
- programmed maintenance painting, grounds maintenance services, general property maintenance services and 

corporate signage; 
 
- specialised industrial services. 
 
Review of Operations 
 
The net amount of consolidated profit of the consolidated entity for the financial year after income tax expense was 
$12,675,822.  A detailed review of the operations of the consolidated entity is contained in the Chairman’s and 
Managing Director’s Report in this Annual Report. 
 
Changes in State of Affairs 
 
During the financial year, as part of the public share offer, Programmed Maintenance Services Limited acquired all of the 
shares in Programmed Maintenance Services (N.Z.) Limited with effect from 1st April 1999.  Programmed Maintenance 
Services (N.Z.) Limited is the largest painting contractor in New Zealand providing long term painting programmes and 
traditional painting services.  The cash purchase price was $7,420,000. 
 
Subsequent Events 
 
There has not been any matter or circumstance, other than that referred to in the financial statements or notes thereto, 
that has arisen since the end of the financial year, that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the 
operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity in 
future financial years. 
 
Future Developments 
 
Disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the operations of the consolidated entity in future financial 
years and the expected results of those operations is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the consolidated 
entity.  Accordingly, this information has not been disclosed in this Report. 
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Environmental Regulations 
 
The consolidated entity aims to achieve a high standard on environmental matters.  During the financial year: 
 
• licenses were renewed and taken out as and when required by environmental authorities;  and 
• the directors have not received notification nor are they aware of any breaches of environmental laws by the 

consolidated entity. 
 
Dividends 
 
In respect of the financial year ended 31st March 2000, the directors declared a final dividend of $3,225,000 (5 cents 
per share) franked to 50% at 34% corporate income tax rate to the holders of fully paid ordinary shares payable on 
26th July 2000. 
 
Share Options 
 
During the financial year, an aggregate of 1,210,000 share options were granted to the following directors and the five 
most highly remunerated executives of the company. 
 

Name No. Issued 
Date Option 

Granted 

Exercise Period 

     Start               Expiry 
Issue Price Exercise 

Price 

G. A. Tomlinson 
 24,000 
 18,000 
 18,000 

 29.09.99 
 29.09.99 
 29.09.99 

 29.09.01 
 29.09.02 
 29.09.03 

 29.09.03 
 29.09.04 
 29.09.05 

 19 cents 
 24 cents 
 27 cents 

 $2.00 
 $2.00 
 $2.00 

M. J. Findlay 
 100,000 
 75,000 
 75,000 

 29.09.99 
 29.09.99 
 29.09.99 

 29.09.01 
 29.09.02 
 29.09.03 

 29.09.03 
 29.09.04 
 29.09.05 

 19 cents 
 24 cents 
 27 cents 

 $2.00 
 $2.00 
 $2.00 

S. M. Oliver 
 20,000 
 15,000 
 15,000 

 29.09.99 
 29.09.99 
 29.09.99 

 29.09.01 
 29.09.02 
 29.09.03 

 29.09.03 
 29.09.04 
 29.09.05 

 19 cents 
 24 cents 
 27 cents 

 $2.00 
 $2.00 
 $2.00 

B. J. Pollock 
 20,000 
 15,000 
 15,000 

 29.09.99 
 29.09.99 
 29.09.99 

 29.09.01 
 29.09.02 
 29.09.03 

 29.09.03 
 29.09.04 
 29.09.05 

 19 cents 
 24 cents 
 27 cents 

 $2.00 
 $2.00 
 $2.00 

D. M. Groves 
 80,000 
 60,000 
 60,000 

 29.09.99 
 29.09.99 
 29.09.99 

 29.09.01 
 29.09.02 
 29.09.03 

 29.09.03 
 29.09.04 
 29.09.05 

 19 cents 
 24 cents 
 27 cents 

 $2.00 
 $2.00 
 $2.00 

R.D.C. Galbraith 
 80,000 
 60,000 
 60,000 

 29.09.99 
 29.09.99 
 29.09.99 

 29.09.01 
 29.09.02 
 29.09.03 

 29.09.03 
 29.09.04 
 29.09.05 

 19 cents 
 24 cents 
 27 cents 

 $2.00 
 $2.00 
 $2.00 

I. W. Craig 
 80,000 
 60,000 
 60,000 

 29.09.99 
 29.09.99 
 29.09.99 

 29.09.01 
 29.09.02 
 29.09.03 

 29.09.03 
 29.09.04 
 29.09.05 

 19 cents 
 24 cents 
 27 cents 

 $2.00 
 $2.00 
 $2.00 

B.J. Horskins 
 60,000 
 45,000 
 45,000 

 29.09.99 
 29.09.99 
 29.09.99 

 29.09.01 
 29.09.02 
 29.09.03 

 29.09.03 
 29.09.04 
 29.09.05 

 19 cents 
 24 cents 
 27 cents 

 $2.00 
 $2.00 
 $2.00 

G. C. Snell 
 20,000 
 15,000 
 15,000 

 29.09.99 
 29.09.99 
 29.09.99 

 29.09.01 
 29.09.02 
 29.09.03 

 29.09.03 
 29.09.04 
 29.09.05 

 19 cents 
 24 cents 
 27 cents 

 $2.00 
 $2.00 
 $2.00 

   
The unissued shares under option are as follows: 
 

Date Issued No. Issued Issue Price Exercise Price Exercise Period 

         Start                    Expiry 

 29.09.99  780,000  19 cents  $2.00  29.09.01  29.09.03 

 29.09.99  585,000  24 cents  $2.00  29.09.02  29.09.04 

 29.09.99  585,000  27 cents  $2.00  29.09.03  29.09.05 

 
The holders of any of the above options do not have the right, by virtue of the option, to participate in any share or 
interest issue of any other body corporate or registered scheme. 
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Indemnification of Officers 
 
During the financial year, the company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the directors of the company (as 
named above), the company secretary and executive officers of the company and of any related body corporate against 
a liability incurred as such a director, company secretary or executive officer to the extent permitted by the 
Corporations Law.  The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the 
premium. 
 
The company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or 
auditor of the company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor. 
 
Directors’ Meetings 
 
The following table sets out the number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of directors) held 
during the financial year and the number of meetings attended by each director. 
 

 
Board of Directors 

Audit and Compliance 

Committee 
Remuneration 

Committee 

 Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended 

G. A. Tomlinson  10  10  2  2  1  1 

M. J. Findlay  15  15  -  -  -  - 

S. M. Oliver  10  9  2  2  1  1 

B. J. Pollock  10  10  2  2  1  1 

S. Chandiramani  5  5  -  -  -  - 

M. A. Silverstein  5  1  -  -  -  - 

A. Thadani  5  -  -  -  -  - 

 
Directors’ Shareholdings 
 
The following table sets out each director’s relevant interest in shares and options in the company at the date of this 
report: 
 

Directors Fully Paid Ordinary Shares Share Options 

G. A. Tomlinson  100,000  60,000 

M. J. Findlay   1,000,000  250,000 

S. M. Oliver  *2,400  50,000 

B. J. Pollock -  50,000 

 
*Beneficial interest 
     
Directors’ and Executives’ Remuneration 
 
The remuneration committee, which was set up in September 1999, reviews the remuneration packages of all directors 
and executive officers on an annual basis. 
 
The Managing Director makes recommendations for executive staff to the remuneration committee.  The Chairman, 
Managing Director and Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration arrangements are reviewed by the remuneration 
committee annually and recommendations made to the Board. 
 
The following table discloses the remuneration of the directors of the company and the five highest remunerated 
executives of the consolidated entity excluding the executive director. 
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Directors 
 

Name Salary/Fees Benefits Incentive Schemes Total 

Non-executive Directors 

G. A. Tomlinson* 

  

 54,226 

  

 3,796 

  

 447 

 

 58,469 

S. M. Oliver*  36,151  2,531  372  39,054 

B. J. Pollock*  36,151  2,531  372  39,054 

S. Chandiramani  -  -  -  - 

M. A. Silverstein  -  -  -  - 

A. Thadani  -  -  -  - 

Managing Director 

M. J. Findlay 

 

 228,000 

 

 97,456 

 

 206,861 

  

 532,317 

 
*   Relates to the period since appointment to the Board on 25th August 1999. 
 
 
Executives of the Company and the Consolidated Entity 
 

Name Salary/Fees Benefits Incentive Schemes Total 

D. M. Groves  142,481  89,263  272,977  504,721 

R.D.C. Galbraith  145,194  65,320  262,977  473,491 

I. W. Craig  156,966  58,384  227,977  443,327 

B. J. Horskins  142,096  50,802  122,233  315,131 

G. C. Snell  149,992  83,177  60,744  293,913 

 
Remuneration packages contain the following key elements: 
a. Salaries/Fees 
b. Benefits including the provision of motor vehicles and superannuation;  and 
c. Incentive Schemes 
 (i) for non-executive directors - notional interest on loans to take up option entitlements; 
 (ii) for executive director and senior executives - performance-related bonuses and notional interest on loans 

to take up option entitlements. 
 
 
 
Signed in accordance with the Resolution of the Directors made pursuant to Section 298(2) of the Corporations Law. 
 
 
 
On behalf of the Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
G. A. Tomlinson  M. J. Findlay 
Director Director 
 
 
13th June 2000 
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Profit and Loss Statement  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2000 
 
 
 
 
 CONSOLIDATED COMPANY 

  Note 2000 1999 2000 1999 

   $ $  $ $ 
 

Operating Profit Before Income Tax 2 15,571,564 8,747,522 11,042,656 8,627,705 

 

Income tax attributable to operating profit 4   2,895,742 3,221,600   1,502,395  3,101,783 

 

Operating Profit After Income Tax  12,675,822 5,525,922 9,540,261 5,525,922 

 

Retained Profits at the Beginning of the  

Financial Year  30,271,334 24,745,412 30,271,334 24,745,412 

 

Total Available for Appropriation  42,947,156 30,271,334 39,811,595 30,271,334 

 

Dividends provided for or paid    3,225,000                  -   3,225,000                  - 

 

Retained Profits at the End of the Financial Year  39,722,156 30,271,334 36,586,595 30,271,334 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 29 to 50.
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Balance Sheet  
AS AT 31ST MARCH 2000 
 

 

 CONSOLIDATED COMPANY 

  Note 2000 1999 2000 1999 

   $  $  $ $  

CURRENT ASSETS 

 Cash     2,713,455    3,714,022   2,711,883   3,712,422 

 Receivables 8 21,219,629 18,451,439 21,968,620 16,180,428 

 Contracts in progress at recoverable value  42,064,064 31,185,153 34,128,167 31,185,153 

 Inventories 9   2,592,356   2,325,959   1,681,443   1,685,959 

 Other 10    2,790,055    2,887,031   3,370,965   2,788,688 

 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  71,379,559 58,563,604 63,861,078 55,552,650 

 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

 Receivables 11      366,356   4,513,163 1,337,627  6,306,550 

 Contracts in progress at recoverable value  47,838,693  30,823,071 33,484,395 30,823,071 

 Investments 12        24,254         24,254 10,317,971   2,684,207 

 Property, plant and equipment 13 18,847,000 17,890,788 10,917,427 10,841,077 

 Intangibles 14        42,400        52,420                -                 - 

 Other 15   2,093,037   1,736,090   2,479,311   2,182,152 

 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  69,211,740 55,039,786 58,536,731 52,837,057 

 

TOTAL ASSETS  140,591,299 113,603,390 122,397,809 108,389,707 

 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 Accounts payable 16  9,403,322  10,049,271    6,693,221   8,918,045 

 Borrowings 17  4,445,394    4,379,864   2,025,958   2,339,146 

 Provisions 18  7,846,463    2,576,966   7,204,508   2,364,966 

 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  21,695,179 17,006,101 15,923,687 13,622,157 

 

 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 Borrowings 19 31,196,331 36,566,968  28,118,771 34,772,773 

 Provisions 20 30,563,067 23,223,677 24,032,026 23,188,133 

 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  61,759,398 59,790,645 52,150,797 57,960,906 

 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  83,454,577 76,796,746 68,074,484 71,583,063 

 

NET ASSETS  57,136,722 36,806,644 54,323,325 36,806,644 

 

 

EQUITY 

 Issued capital 22 12,201,420  1,000,000 12,201,420  1,000,000 

 Reserves 23   5,213,146  5,535,310   5,535,310  5,535,310 

 Retained profits  39,722,156 30,271,334  36,586,595 30,271,334 

 

TOTAL EQUITY  57,136,722 36,806,644 54,323,325 36,806,644 

 
 
 
 
 

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 29 to 50.
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Statement of Cash Flows  
AS AT 31ST MARCH 2000 

 
 
 

  CONSOLIDATED COMPANY 

  Note 2000 1999 2000 1999 

   $ $ $ $ 

 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

 

Receipts from customers                     106,661,095   87,703,168      80,930,636  75,806,550 

Interest received                       427,827        169,211           427,816       169,211 

Payments to suppliers and employees              (97,645,490)  (77,143,100)    (73,874,821) (66,779,732) 

Interest and other cost of finance paid                (1,039,328)       (801,602)         (581,315)      (440,755) 

Bill facility and loan fees                 (1,880,756)    (2,143,367)      (1,880,756)   (2,143,367) 

Income tax paid                        (130,198)                    -                      -                     - 

 

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities  34(d)               6,393,150      7,784,310         5,021,560     6,611,907 

 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

 

Payment for business    34(b)              (7,801,077)     -        (7,420,000)   - 

Payment for property, plant and equipment                (1,531,501)     (1,396,484)         (988,383)  (1,361,302) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment                1,405,982          787,992 1,222,115       847,644 

Advances to related party                                   -           (11,795)    233,231      (289,336) 

 

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities                 (7,926,596)        (620,287)       (6,953,037)    (802,994) 

 

 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

 

Proceeds from issue of shares                                                               11,201,420                      -      11,201,420                  - 

Repayment of commercial bills                   (8,000,000)      (1,500,000)    (8,000,000)   (1,500,000) 

Repayment of finance, lease and hire purchase liabilities               (3,332,815)      (3,420,742)    (2,158,841)   (2,002,556) 

 

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities     (131,395)       (4,920,742)     1,042,579   (3,502,556) 

 

 

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH HELD               (1,664,841)        2,243,281       (888,898)    2,306,357 

 

 

CASH AT THE BEGINNING OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR               2,706,172           462,891      3,198,309       891,952 

 

Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of 

cash held in foreign currencies         17,826                       -               -                  - 

 

CASH AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR  34(a)  1,059,157       2,706,172 2,309,411   3,198,309 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 29 to 50.
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Notes to the Financial Statements   
For the financial year ended 31 March 2000 
 

 

1. Summary of Accounting Policies 
 
 
 Financial Reporting Framework 
 
 The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the 

Corporations Law, applicable Accounting Standards and Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views, and complies 
with other requirements of the law. 

 
 The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost and, except where stated, do not take into 

account changing money values or current valuations of non-current assets.  Cost is based on the fair values of 
the consideration given in exchange for assets. 

 
 Significant Accounting Policies 

 
 Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resultant financial information 

satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying 
transactions and other events is reported. 

 
 The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the 

financial report. 
 
(a) Contracts in Progress at Recoverable Value 

 
 The accounting policy for long term contracts is to recognise at each balance date all income relating to work 

already completed on those contracts at that date.  To the extent that such income under the terms of those 
contracts will only become payable after the balance date, it is carried forward and shown in the balance sheet 
as contracts in progress at recoverable value. 

 
(b) Revenue 

 
 Sales Revenue 
 
 Sales revenue represents invoicing from the sale of the company's products and services inclusive of the amounts 

due and payable under the terms of the long term maintenance contracts. 
 
 Increase in Amounts Recoverable 
 
 Increase in amounts recoverable represents income earned on work completed in servicing long term 

maintenance contracts which, whilst owing to the company under the terms of those contracts, will not become 
payable until future years. 

 
 Other Operating Revenue 
 
 Other operating revenue includes interest income on short term monetary investments. 
 
(c) Income Tax 

 
 Tax effect accounting principles have been adopted whereby income tax expense has been calculated on pre-tax 

accounting profits after adjustment for permanent differences.  The tax effect of timing differences, which occur 
when items are included or allowed for income tax purposes in a period different to that for accounting, is 
shown at applicable taxation rates in provision for deferred income tax and future income tax benefit. 

 
 Capital gains tax, if applicable, is provided for in establishing period income tax when an asset is sold or realised. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
For the financial year ended 31 March 2000 
 
 
(d) Depreciation 

 
 Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment, including freehold buildings but excluding land.  

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write off the net cost of each asset over its expected 
useful life.  Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the period of the lease or estimated 
useful life, using the straight-line method. 

 
 The following estimated lives are used in the calculation of depreciation: 
 

• Buildings 20 - 30 years 
• Leasehold improvements 5 years 
• Plant and equipment 5 - 15 years 
• Equipment under finance lease 5 years 

 

(e) Foreign Currency 

 

 All foreign currency transactions during the financial year have been brought to account using the exchange rate 
in effect at the date of the transaction.  Foreign currency monetary items at balance date are translated at the 
exchange rate existing at that date. 

 
 All exchange differences are brought to account in the profit and loss account in the period in which they arise. 
 

 Exchange differences relating to foreign currency monetary items forming part of the net investment in a self-
sustaining foreign operation are taken directly to the foreign currency translation reserve. 

 
 Financial statements of self-sustaining foreign controlled entities are translated at reporting date using the current 

rate method and exchange differences are brought to account by entries made directly to the foreign currency 
translation reserve. 

 
(f) Principles of Consolidation 
 
 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by combining the financial statements of all the 

entities that comprise the economic entity, being the company (the parent entity) and its controlled entities as 
defined in accounting standard AASB1024 "Consolidated Accounts".  A list of controlled entities appears in Note 
30 to the financial statements.  Consistent accounting policies have been employed in the preparation and 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

 
 The consolidated financial statements include the information and results of each controlled entity from the date 

on which the company obtains control and until such time as the company ceases to control such entity. 
 
 In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, and unrealised 

profits arising within the economic entity are eliminated in full. 
 
(g) Receivables 

 
 Trade receivables and other receivables are recorded at amounts due less any provision for doubtful debts. 
 
 (h) Employee Entitlements 
 
 Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long 

service leave, when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured 
reliably. 

 
 Provisions made in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, long service leave and other employee 

entitlements expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured at their nominal values. 
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 Provisions made in respect of long service leave, which is not expected to be settled within 12 months, are 

measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the economic entity in 
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. 

 
(i) Leased Assets 

 
 Leased assets classified as finance leases are capitalised as fixed assets.  The amount initially brought to account is 

the present value of minimum lease payments. 
 
 A finance lease is one which effectively transfers from the lessor to the lessee substantially all the risks and 

benefits incidental to ownership of the leased property. 
 
 Capitalised leased assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. 
 
 Finance lease payments are allocated between interest expense and the reduction of lease liability over the term 

of the lease.  The interest expense is determined by applying the interest rate implicit in the lease to the 
outstanding lease liability at the beginning of each lease payment period. 

 
 Operating lease payments are charged as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.   
 
(j) Recoverable Amount of Non-Current Assets 
 
 Non-current assets are written down to recoverable amount where the carrying value of any non-current asset 

exceeds recoverable amount.   In determining the recoverable amount of non-current assets, the expected net 
cash flows have not been discounted to their present value. 

 
(k) Licences 
 
 The licence agreement is being amortised on a straight-line basis over a ten-year period during which the 

benefits are expected to arise. 
 
(l) Investments 
 
 Investments in wholly owned controlled entities are recorded at directors' valuation performed on the basis of 

the net asset value of each wholly owned controlled entity.  Other investments are recorded at cost. 
 
(m) Accounts Payable 
 
 Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the economic entity becomes obliged to make 

future payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services. 
 
(n) Borrowings 
 
 Bills of exchange are recorded at an amount equal to the net proceeds received, with the premium or discount 

amortised over the period until maturity.  Interest expense is recognised on an effective yield basis. 
 
 Bank loans and other loans are recorded at an amount equal to the net proceeds received.  Interest expense is 

recognised on an accrual basis. 
 
(o) Inventories 
 
 Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Costs, including an appropriate portion of 

fixed and variable overhead expenses, are assigned to inventory on hand by the method most appropriate to 
each particular class of inventory, with the majority being valued on a "first in first out" basis. 

 



32 Programmed Maintenance Services Limited • Annual Report 2000

Notes to the Financial Statements  
For the financial year ended 31 March 2000 
 
 
(p) Financial Instruments Issued by the Company 

 
 Debt and equity instruments 
 Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the 

contractual arrangement. 
 
 Interest and dividends 
 Interest and dividends are classified as expenses or as distributions of profit consistent with the balance sheet 

classifications of the related debt or equity instruments. 
 
(q) Derivative Financial Instruments 

 
 Interest rate cap - Gains and losses on an interest rate cap are included in the determination of interest expense. 
 
(r) Acquisition of Assets 
 
 Assets acquired are recorded at the cost of acquisition, being the purchase consideration determined as at the 

date of acquisition plus costs incidental to the acquisition. 
 
(s) Comparative Figures 
 
 Since this is the first report for the listed company, the comparative figures relate to the PMS Group prior to the 

acquisition of Programmed Maintenance Services (N.Z.) Limited. 
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2. Operating Profit 
 

The operating profit before income tax includes the following items of revenue and expense: 

 

 

                      CONSOLIDATED COMPANY 

   2000 1999 2000 1999 

   $ $ $ $ 

REVENUE 

Sales revenue   107,313,265  89,985,041  80,998,741 77,279,764 

Increase in amounts recoverable    11,601,603   4,884,308    5,604,338   4,884,308 

 

   118,914,868 94,869,349  86,603,079 82,164,072 

Other operating revenue: 

Interest - wholly owned controlled entities                    -                -       459,294      150,804 

 - related parties                    -     333,980                  -      333,980 

 - other entities         317,542     205,289       317,531      205,289 

Write back of provision for diminution in investment                    -                -       213,764      186,969 

Other income            490,621     137,999       340,621       112,799 

 

Total other operating revenue          808,163     677,268   1,331,210       989,841 

 

Total Operating Revenue  119,723,031 95,546,617 87,934,289 83,153,913 

 

Non Operating Revenue 

 

Proceeds on sale of non-current assets     1,405,982     787,992   1,222,115      847,644 

 

Total Non Operating Revenue     1,405,982      787,992   1,222,115      847,644 

 

Total Revenue   121,129,013 96,334,609 89,156,404 84,001,557 

 

 

EXPENSES 

Borrowing costs: 

Interest - other entities  2,876,771 2,860,685 2,462,071 2,579,721 

 - finance lease finance charges      43,848      84,284        2,275        4,401 

Bad debts written off in respect of amounts receivable from: 

 - other entities      17,258    217,383      14,677    78,818 

Provision for doubtful debts in respect of amounts 

receivable from: 

 - other entities      (43,339)     65,000       (2,500)   150,000 

Depreciation of non-current assets: 

 - property, plant and equipment  5,199,201 4,214,751 3,327,775 3,171,830 

Amortisation of non-current assets: 

 - lease assets     74,609   235,407     12,109      39,228 

 - other intangibles     10,020    10,020               -                - 

Transfers to provisions: 

 - long service leave  247,939    91,952   184,806      81,408 

 - annual leave  478,230  281,249    322,793    229,649 

Operating lease rental expense    997,461   868,624    544,765     638,744 

Foreign exchange loss    386,982              -               -               - 
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3. Sales of Non-current Assets 
 

   CONSOLIDATED COMPANY 

   2000 1999 2000 1999 

   $  $  $  $ 

 

Sales in the ordinary course of business of non-current 

assets have given rise to the following profits and losses: 

 

Profits: 

  - Property, plant and equipment 668,863  491,040 645,879 491,040 
Losses: 
  - Property, plant and equipment 322,387  155,474 293,787 150,694 
 

  

 

4. Income Tax 
 

The prima facie income tax expense on pre-tax accounting 

profit reconciles to the income tax expense in the accounts 

as follows: 

 

Operating profit    15,571,564  8,747,522  11,042,656 8,627,705

  

Income tax expense calculated at 36% of operating profit       5,605,763  3,149,108    3,975,356 3,105,973 

 

Permanent differences: 

 

Non-allowable depreciation of buildings            16,194       11,781          16,194      11,781 

Non-deductible expenses             (44,191)      61,510   12,475     41,257 

Diminution of investment                      -                -      (76,955)     (67,308) 

Effect of lower tax rate on overseas income           (140,920)                -             -               - 

 

Abnormal items: 

Effect on future income tax benefit and provision for 

deferred income tax due to the change in income  

tax rates         (2,557,254)                   -       (2,440,690)                - 

 

           (2,726,171)          73,291       (2,488,976)   (14,270) 

(Over)/Under provision of income tax in previous years             16,150             (799)    16,015         10,080 

 

           (2,710,021)        72,492        (2,472,961)          (4,190) 

 

Income tax expense attributable to operating profit         2,895,742     3,221,600         1,502,395  3,101,783 
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5. Directors’ Remuneration 
 

   CONSOLIDATED COMPANY 

   2000 1999 2000 1999 

   $  $  $  $ 

The directors of Programmed Maintenance 

Services Limited during the year were: 

 

Geoffrey Allan Tomlinson 

Maxwell John Findlay 

Susan Mary Oliver 

Brian John Pollock 

Sunil Chandiramani 

Mark Alan Silverstein 

Anil Thadani 

 

The aggregate of income paid or payable, or 

otherwise made available, in respect of the 

financial year, to all directors of the company, 

directly or indirectly, by the company or by any 

related party   668,894   291,027 

 

The aggregate of income paid or payable, 

or otherwise made available, in respect of 

the financial year, to all directors of each 

entity in the economic entity, directly or  

indirectly, by the entities in which they  

are directors or by any related party  668,894           291,027 

 

The number of directors of the company 

whose total income falls within each 

successive $10,000 band of income 

(commencing at $0): 

 

$0  - $9,999   3 3 

$30,000 - $39,999   2 - 

$50,000 - $59,999   1 - 

$290,000 - $299,999   - 1 

$530,000 - $539,999   1 - 

 

 

6. Executives’ Remuneration 
 

Aggregate remuneration of executive 

officers of the company working mainly 

in Australia and receiving $100,000 or  

more from the company or from any 

related party.   3,519,545   2,048,641 

 

Aggregate remuneration of executive 

officers of each entity in the economic 

entity working mainly in Australia and 

receiving $100,000 or more from the 

entity for which they are executive 

officers or from any related party.  3,818,317          2,181,261 
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   CONSOLIDATED COMPANY 

   2000 1999 2000 1999 

   $ $  $  $ 

 

 

The number of executive officers 

whose remuneration falls within each 

successive $10,000 band of income 

(commencing at $100,000): 

 

     No. No. No. No. 

 

$100,000 - $109,999    1 - 1 - 

$110,000 - $119,999    1 2 1 2 

$120,000 - $129,999    2 3 2 3 

$130,000 - $139,999    4 2 3 1 

$140,000 - $149,999    3 1 3 1 

$150,000 - $159,999    1 1 - 1 

$160,000 - $169,999    1 - 1 - 

$190,000 - $199,999    - 1 - 1 

$200,000 - $209,999    - 2 - 2 

$210,000 - $219,999    - 1 - 1 

$220,000 - $229,999    - 1 - 1 

$290,000 - $299,999    1 1 1 1 

$310,000 - $319,999    1 - 1 - 

$440,000 - $449,999    1 - 1 - 

$470,000 - $479,999    1 - 1 - 

$500,000 - $509,999    1 - 1 - 

$530,000 - $539,999    1 - 1 - 

 

 

 

7. Share Option Scheme 
 

The company has a Share Option Scheme for 

Senior Executives. 

 

In accordance with the provisions of the scheme, 

as approved by shareholders’ consent, certain  

directors, senior executives and employees 

have been offered and accepted options which 

can be exercised between the period  

29th September 2001 and 29th September 2005. 

 

The issue price is as follows: 

First Tranche  780,000 19 cents 

Second Tranche 585,000 24 cents 

Third Tranche 585,000 27 cents 

 

The exercise price for each option is $2.00.  The total number of options on issue is 1,950,000. 

At the date of this report, no options have been exercised under the Share Option Scheme. 
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8. Current Receivables 
 

   CONSOLIDATED COMPANY 

   2000 1999 2000 1999 

   $  $  $  $ 

 

 

Trade debtors       22,045,450 18,771,157 16,566,234 16,161,375 

 Provision for doubtful debts      (825,821)    (781,000)     (658,500)     (661,000) 

 

    21,219,629 17,990,157 15,907,734 15,500,375 

Non-trade receivables from: 

Other related party  - 461,282 - 461,282 

Wholly-owned controlled entities                   -                 -   6,060,886     218,771 

 

    21,219,629 18,451,439 21,968,620 16,180,428 

 

9. Current Inventories 
 

At cost 

 Raw materials and stores  1,146,618 1,141,110 509,548 501,110 

 Work in progress  1,409,601 1,094,128 1,135,758 1,094,128 

 Finished goods        36,137     90,721     36,137     90,721 

 

    2,592,356 2,325,959 1,681,443 1,685,959 

 

10. Other Current Assets 
 

Other debtors  1,294,890 1,523,958 2,055,469 1,511,123 

Prepayments  1,495,165 1,363,073 473,951 1,277,565 

Interest receivable from: 

  Wholly-owned controlled entities                 -                -     841,545               - 

 

    2,790,055 2,887,031 3,370,965 2,788,688 

 

11. Non-Current Receivables 
 

Loan to other related party  - 4,513,163 - 4,513,163 

Loan to wholly-owned controlled entity  - - 971,271   1,793,387 

Loan to other persons      366,356                -    366,356                 - 

 

        366,356 4,513,163 1,337,627 6,306,550 

 

12. Investments 
 

Quoted investments at valuation  24,254 24,254 24,254 24,254 

Shares in wholly-owned controlled entities 

   at directors’ valuation 

 Barry Bros. Specialised Services Pty. Limited (i)  - - 2,873,717 2,659,953 

 Programmed Maintenance Services (NZ) Limited (ii)                -               - 7,420,000                - 

 

        24,254     24,254 10,317,971 2,684,207 

 

 

(i) Revalued annually by reference to the net tangible assets as at 31st March each year. 

(ii) Valued by reference to the net tangible assets on acquisition being 1st April 1999. 
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment 
 

   CONSOLIDATED COMPANY 

   2000 1999 2000 1999 

   $  $  $  $ 

Freehold land and buildings: (a) 

At cost   2,781,405 2,740,303   2,781,405   2,740,303 

Accumulated depreciation            (219,464)     (184,369)    (219,464)      (184,369) 

 

         2,561,941    2,555,934  2,561,941    2,555,934 

Leasehold improvements: 

At cost           40,580       147,685      40,580        97,295 

Accumulated depreciation             (3,838)       (115,309)        (3,838)        (68,467) 

 

          36,742         32,376       36,742         28,828 

 

Total Land and Buildings    2,598,683   2,588,310 2,598,683    2,584,762 

 

Plant and Equipment 

Property maintenance services: 

At cost  20,526,849 17,133,281 17,468,938 17,133,281 

Accumulated depreciation   (11,700,371)   (9,962,934)  (10,121,892)  (9,962,934) 

 

  8,826,478 7,170,347 7,347,046  7,170,347 

Specialised plumbing services: 

At directors’ valuation 1998 (b)  5,024,690 5,240,300                -                - 

At cost  3,768,806 2,063,615                -                - 

Accumulated depreciation   (2,496,403) (1,062,424)                -                - 

 

   6,297,093   6,241,491                 -                 - 

 

  15,123,571 13,411,838 7,347,046 7,170,347 

Office Furniture and Fittings: 

At cost    3,066,461   2,526,575  2,566,488  2,375,401 

Accumulated depreciation     (1,941,715)   (1,398,044)  (1,594,790)  (1,301,542) 

 

   1,124,746   1,128,531     971,698 1,073,859 

On Finance Leases: 

Property maintenance services: 

At cost                   -      72,655               -      72,655 

Accumulated amortisation                   -     (60,546)               -     (60,546) 

 

                   -      12,109               -        12,109 

Specialised plumbing services: 

At directors’ valuation 1998 (b)                   -   875,000                -                 - 

Accumulated amortisation                   -   (125,000)                -                 - 

 

                   -    750,000                -                 - 

 

                   -    762,109                -       12,109 

 

Total Plant and Equipment  16,248,317 15,302,478  8,318,744  8,256,315 

 

Total Property, Plant and Equipment  18,847,000 17,890,788 10,917,427 10,841,077 
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   CONSOLIDATED COMPANY 

   2000 1999 2000 1999 

   $ $  $  $ 

 

 

Aggregate depreciation allocated, whether recognised 

as an expense or capitalised as part of the carrying 

amount of other assets during the year: 

 

Buildings  48,530 62,578 44,982 49,792 

Plant and Equipment  5,150,671 4,152,173 3,282,793 3,122,038 

 

    5,199,201 4,214,751 3,327,775 3,171,830 

 

 

(a) An independent valuation of land and buildings was undertaken in 1998 by Lawson Real Estate Pty Ltd., King & Co. and 

Richard Ellis.  The basis of the independent valuation was open market value based on existing use and amounts to 

$3,550,000.  Such valuations are undertaken every three (3) years. 

 

 

(b) The directors’ valuation of specialised plumbing services, plant and equipment and finance leases held within a wholly-

owned controlled entity was based on an independent valuation, on a going concern basis, by Taylor Lockwood Pty. 

Limited in May 1998.  The movement in the carrying value of these assets at balance date has been brought about by the 

transfer of finance lease assets to plant and equipment.  No regular revaluation is in place, however, the carrying value 

of these assets is reviewed annually. 

 

 

 

14. Intangibles 
 

Licence Agreement  100,000 100,000 - - 

Accumulated Amortisation      (57,600)     (47,580)                 -                   - 

 

        42,400      52,420                 -                - 

 

 

 

15. Other Non-current Assets 
 

Future income tax benefits attributable to: 

 Tax losses - revenue  - 350,264 - - 

 Timing differences  2,093,037 1,385,826 2,479,311 2,182,152 

 

    2,093,037 1,736,090 2,479,311 2,182,152 

 

 

 

16. Current Accounts Payable 
 

Unsecured: 

Trade payables  9,403,322 10,049,271 6,693,221 8,918,045 
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17. Current Borrowings 
 
   CONSOLIDATED COMPANY 

   2000 1999 2000 1999 

   $  $  $  $ 

 

Secured: 

Bank overdraft (a)  1,654,298  1,007,850          402,472        514,113 

Hire purchase contracts (b)  2,324,610  3,008,759 1,623,486     1,787,481 

Lease liabilities (b) (Note 24)     466,486       363,255                     -          37,552 

  

    4,445,394  4,379,864 2,025,958 2,339,146 

 

 

(a) The Westpac Banking Corporation holds a registered first party Equitable Mortgage over the assets of Programmed 

Maintenance Services Limited as security for advances made and/or guarantees given by the Bank. 

 

(b) Effectively secured over the related assets. 

 

 

 

18. Current Provisions 
 

Dividends  3,225,000 - 3,225,000 - 

Taxation  1,272,024 - 1,118,884 - 

 

Employee entitlements: 

Annual leave  2,431,983 1,875,197 1,985,990 1,663,197 

Long service leave     917,456    701,769 874,634    701,769 

 

    7,846,463 2,576,966 7,204,508 2,364,966 

 

 

 

19. Non-current Borrowings 
  

Secured: 

Commercial Bill Facility (a)  23,500,000 31,500,000 23,500,000 31,500,000 

Hire purchase contracts (b)  6,984,249 5,066,968 4,618,771 3,272,773 

Lease liabilities (b) (Note 24)       712,082                  -                  -                  - 

 

    31,196,331 36,566,968 28,118,771 34,772,773 

 

 

 

(a) The Westpac Banking Corporation holds a registered first party Equitable Mortgage over the assets of Programmed 

Maintenance Services Limited as security for advances made and/or guarantees given by the Bank. 

 

(b) Effectively secured over the related assets. 
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20. Non-current Provisions 
 

   CONSOLIDATED COMPANY 

   2000 1999 2000 1999 

   $  $  $  $ 

 

Provision for deferred income tax   29,696,129 22,927,706    23,313,108 22,927,706 

Employee entitlements: 

 Long service leave       420,388      295,971 272,368      260,427 

 Share options(a)       446,550                 -      446,550                  - 

 

    30,563,067 23,223,677    24,032,026 23,188,133 

 

 

(a) Amount payable to all option holders upon the exercise of all options.  In the event that the options either lapse or are 

not exercised, the applicable amounts will be written back against this provision. 

 

 

21. Employee Entitlements 
 

The aggregate employee entitlement liability 

recognised and included in the accounts is as 

follows: 

 

Provision for employee entitlements: 

- Current (Note 18)  3,349,439 2,576,966 2,860,624 2,364,966 

- Non-current (Note 20)     866,938    295,971    718,918    260,427 

 

     4,216,377 2,872,937 3,579,542 2,625,393 

 

 

 

22. Share Capital 
 

Issued Capital 

 

64,500,000 ordinary shares (1999: 1,000,000)  12,201,420 1,000,000 12,201,420  1,000,000 

 

 

1,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares  1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 

(1,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares split into 

   58,140,000 shares) 

 

6,210,000 new fully paid ordinary shares as per 

   Prospectus  12,420,000 - 12,420,000 - 

 

150,000 fully paid ordinary shares allocated to 

   eligible employees  300,000 - 300,000 - 

 

Formation cost of initial public offer  (1,518,580)               - (1,518,580)               - 

 

   12,201,420 1,000,000 12,201,420  1,000,000 
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   CONSOLIDATED COMPANY 

   2000 1999 2000 1999 

   $  $  $  $ 

Share Options 

 

In accordance with the provisions of the Share Option Scheme, the directors’ and senior executives’ options are exercisable 

between the period 29th September 2001 and 29th September 2005. 

 

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are contained in Note 7 to the financial statements. 

 

Share Capital Issued During the Financial Year 

 

During the financial year, the company issued 6,360,000 ordinary shares each fully paid in accordance with the Prospectus 

dated 25th August 1999. 

 

Transaction costs of $1,518,580 were recognised in equity as a reduction of the proceeds. 

 
 
23. Reserves 
 

(a) Reserves comprise: 

 Asset revaluation  5,535,310 5,535,310 5,535,310 5,535,310 

 Foreign currency translation     (322,164)                 -                 -                 - 

 

    5,213,146 5,535,310 5,535,310 5,535,310 

 

(b) Movements in reserves: 

 Foreign Currency Translation Reserve 

 Balance at beginning of financial year   - -  - - 

 

 Translation of foreign operations     (322,164)                -               -                 - 

 

 Balance at end of financial year     (322,164)                -                      -                    - 

 

 

24. Finance Lease Liabilities 
 

Finance lease commitments: 

Not later than one year   692,281 397,584 - 39,827 

Later than one year and not later than two years   549,036 - - - 

Later than two years and not later than five years       157,142               -                -               - 

 

Minimum finance lease payments   1,398,459 397,584 - 39,827 

Future finance charges      (219,891)    (34,329)                -     (2,275) 

 

Finance lease liabilities   1,178,568   363,255                -    37,552 

 

Shown in the accounts as: 

Creditors and borrowings 

Current (Note 17)   466,486 363,255 - 37,552 

Non-current  (Note 19)      712,082                -                -             - 

 

     1,178,568    363,255               -   37,552 
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25. Earnings Per Share 
  2000 1999 

  Cents per Share Cents per Share 

 

Basic earnings per share 20.7 552.6 

Diluted earnings per share 20.0 552.6 

 

The weighted average number of ordinary 

shares on issue used in the calculation of 

basic earnings per share 61,380,986 1,000,000 (a) 

 

 

The share options are considered to be potential ordinary shares and, therefore, have not been included in the determination 

of basic earnings per share.  These securities have been included in the determination of diluted earnings per share on the 

basis that each share option will convert to one ordinary share. 

 

(a) Shares on issue prior to the initial public offer (Refer Note 22). 

 

 

   CONSOLIDATED COMPANY 

   2000 1999 2000 1999 

   $  $  $  $ 

26. Commitments for Expenditure 
 

(a) Capital expenditure commitments: 

  Plant and equipment 

  Estimated capital expenditure contracted for at  

  balance date, but not provided for, payable not 

  later than one year after the end of the  

  financial year.   1,146,671  654,807 612,961 654,807 

 

(b) Commitments under operating leases 

 

  Not later than one year     777,560   490,381 364,392    360,712 

  Later than one year and not later than two years      545,134  333,070 260,344    232,493 

  Later than two years and not later than five years     573,180  540,164 350,100    521,399 

  Later than five years       34,457                -                   -               - 

 

     1,930,331  1,363,615    974,836 1,114,604 

 

     3,077,002  2,018,422 1,587,797 1,769,411 

27. Contingent Liabilities 
 

Guarantee by the company of bank overdrafts    - 600,000 1,700,000  1,100,000 

Guarantee by the company of lease liabilities   -            - 2,999,797  3,091,157 

Bank guarantee loan facility   - 712,902    649,194    712,902 

 

 

The company has provided performance and security guarantees from its bankers in accordance with certain contractual 

requirements (Refer Note 17). 

 

The directors are not aware of any other contingent liabilities. 
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28. Financial Instruments 
 

a. Significant Accounting Policies 

 

Details of significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 

measurement and the basis on which revenues and expenses are recognised, in respect of each significant class of 

financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 1 to the financial statements. 

 

b. Interest Rate Risk 
 
 The following table details the economic entity’s exposure to interest rate risk as at the reporting date. 
 

 

   Fixed Interest Rate Maturity   

 

 

Average 

Interest  

Rate 

% 

Variable 

Interest  

Rate 

 

Less 

than 1  

Year 

 

 

1 to 5 

Years 

 

More 

than 5  

Years 

 

Non- 

interest 

Bearing 

 

 

Total 

 

 

2000 

 

Financial Assets 

 

Cash 

Trade Receivables 

Contracts in Progress 

   at recoverable value 

Other Receivables 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 5.15 

 

  

3.80 

- 

 

 

 

 

 

  2,700,000 

 

 

89,902,757 

- 

 

 

 

 

 

- 

 

 

- 

- 

 

 

 

  

 

- 

- 

 

- 

- 

 

 

 

 

 

- 

- 

 

- 

- 

 

 

 

 

 

 13,455 

 21,219,629 

 

- 

 1,661,246 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 2,713,455 

 21,219,629 

  

   89,902,757 

 1,661,246 

 - 92,602,757 - - -  22,894,330  115,497,087 

 

Financial Liabilities 

 

Trade Payables 

Bank Overdraft 

Bills of Exchange 

Finance Lease Liability 

Hire Purchase Liability 

Employee Entitlements 

Dividend 

 

 

 

 

- 

 8.70 

 5.17 

 10.25 

 8.04 

- 

- 

 

 

 

 

- 

 1,654,298 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

 

 

 

- 

- 

 *23,500,000 

 466,486 

 2,324,610 

- 

- 

 

 

 

 

- 

- 

- 

 712,082 

 6,984,249 

- 

- 

 

 

 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

 

 

 

 

 9,403,322 

- 

- 

- 

- 

 4,216,377 

 3,225,000 

 

 

 

 9,403,322 

 1,654,298 

 23,500,000 

 1,178,568 

 9,308,859 

 4,216,377 

 3,225,000 

 -  1,654,298  26,291,096 7,696,331 -  16,844,699  52,486,424 

 

*Interest Rate Cap 

 

 

 5.85 

 

 

- 

 

   (9,500,000) 

 

 

- 

 

 

- 

 

 

- 

 

 

     (9,500,000) 

 

The consolidated entity has entered into an interest rate cap contract to mitigate the risk of rising interest rates.  Under 
the interest rate cap contract, the economic entity agrees to exchange the difference between fixed and floating rate 
interest amounts, calculated on contracted notional principal amounts.  The above table details the notional principal 
amounts outstanding as at the reporting date and the average fixed rate inherent in the interest rate cap contract.  The 
termination date for the cap is 11th December 2000. 
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   Fixed Interest Rate Maturity   

 

 

Average 

Interest  

Rate 

% 

Variable 

Interest  

Rate 

 

Less 

than 1  

Year 

 

 

1 to 5 

Years 

 

More 

than 5  

Years 

 

Non- 

interest 

Bearing 

 

 

Total 

 

 

1999 

 

Financial Assets 

 

Cash 

Trade Receivables 

Related Party Receivables 

Contracts in Progress 

  at recoverable value 

Other Receivables 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 4.57 

- 

 7.40 

  

   3.50 

- 

 

 

 

 

 

  3,700,000 

- 

  4,513,163 

  

 62,008,224 

- 

  

 

 

 

 

- 

- 

- 

 

- 

- 

 

 

 

 

 

- 

- 

- 

 

- 

- 

 

 

 

 

 

- 

- 

- 

 

- 

- 

 

 

 

 

 

 14,022 

 17,990,157 

 461,282 

 

- 

 1,523,958 

 

 

 

 

 

 3,714,022 

 17,990,157 

 4,974,445 

  

 62,008,224 

 1,523,958 

 - 70,221,387 - - -  19,989,419 90,210,806 

 

Financial Liabilities 

 

Trade Payables 

Bank Overdraft 

Bills of Exchange 

Finance Lease Liability 

Hire Purchase Liability 

Employee Entitlements 

 

 

 

 

 

- 

 8.32 

 5.09 

 11.68 

 8.43 

- 

 

 

 

 

- 

 1,007,850 

- 

- 

- 

- 

 

 

 

- 

- 

 *31,500,000 

 363,255 

 3,008,759 

- 

 

 

 

 

- 

- 

- 

- 

 5,066,968 

- 

 

 

 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

 

 

 

 10,049,271 

- 

- 

- 

- 

 2,872,937 

 

 

 

 10,049,271 

 1,007,850 

 31,500,000 

 363,255 

 8,075,727 

 2,872,937 

 

 -  1,007,850  34,872,014    5,066,968 -  12,922,208  53,869,040 

 

*Interest Rate Cap 

 

 

 5.44 

 

 

- 

 

   (12,000,000) 

 

 

- 

 

 

- 

 

 

- 

 

 (12,000,000) 

 

 
c. Net Fair Value 
 
 The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements represents their 

respective net fair values, determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in Note 1 to the 
financial statements. 

 
d. Credit Risk 
 

The consolidated entity does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counter party or any group 
of counter-parties having similar characteristics.  The total credit risk is the carrying amount of financial assets 
recorded in the financial statements, net of any provisions for losses, before any value for collateral or other 
security held. 
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29. Remuneration of Auditors 
 

   CONSOLIDATED COMPANY 

   2000 1999 2000 1999 

   $  $  $ $ 

 

(a) Auditor of the parent entity: 

 

 Auditing the financial report  111,398  59,070   59,700 41,118 

 Other services  141,718  34,840 141,718 34,840 

 

(b) Other auditors: 

 

 Auditing the financial report     300           -            -        - 

 Other services  4,830  16,475            -        - 

 

 

30. Controlled Entities 
 

Name of Entity Country of Incorporation        Ownership Interest 

   2000 1999 

      %    % 

Parent Entity 

 

Programmed Maintenance 

Services Limited  Australia  

 

Controlled Entities 

 

Barry Bros. Specialised Services 

   Pty. Limited  Australia  100 100 

Programmed Maintenance Services 

   (N.Z.) Limited  New Zealand 100 - 

PMS Share Schemes Administration 

   Pty. Ltd.  Australia    100  - 

 

 

31. Acquisition of Controlled Entities 
 

  Date of Proportion of Cost of 

Name of Entity Acquired Acquisition Shares Acquired Acquisition 

 

Programmed Maintenance 

Services (N.Z.) Limited(a) 01/04/99 100% 7,420,000 

 

PMS Share Schemes 

Administration Pty. Ltd.(b) 25/08/99 100% 1 

 

 

(a) The operating results of Programmed Maintenance Services (N.Z.) Limited have been included in the consolidated 

profit and loss statement from 1st April 1999, the date on which the parent entity obtained control. 

 

(b) PMS Share Schemes Administration Pty. Ltd. is a non-trading wholly-owned controlled entity. 
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32. Financial Reporting By Segments 
 

 

Industry Segments 

 

    Revenue Profit  Assets 

 2000 1999 2000 1999 2000 1999 

 $ $ $ $  $  $ 

Property 

Maintenance Services 106,816,854 83,533,141 12,462,058 5,338,953 132,132,154   103,981,445 

 

Specialised 

Plumbing Services   14,312,159 12,801,468      213,764    186,969     8,459,145      9,621,945 

 

  121,129,013 96,334,609 12,675,822 5,525,922 140,591,299   113,603,390 

 

 

Geographical Segments 

 

Australia 102,685,220 96,334,609   9,540,261 5,525,922 113,347,799   113,603,390 

 

New Zealand   18,443,793                  -   3,135,561               -   27,243,500                     - 

 

  121,129,013 96,334,609 12,675,822 5,525,922 140,591,299   113,603,390 

 

 

The economic entity operates throughout Australia and New Zealand. 

 

 

33. Related Party Disclosures 
 

(a) Other transactions of directors 

 

 During the financial year, directors and their director-related entities purchased goods, which were domestic or trivial 

in nature, from the company on the same terms and conditions available to other employees and customers. 

 

(b) Transactions with entities in the wholly-owned group 

 

 Details of interest revenue derived by the parent entity from wholly-owned controlled entities are disclosed in Note 2 

to the financial statements. 

 

 Details of interest expense in respect of transactions with wholly-owned controlled entities are disclosed in Note 2 to 

the financial statements. 

 

 Amounts receivable from and payable to wholly owned controlled entities are disclosed in Notes 8, 10 and 11 to the 

financial statements. 

 

 Other transactions that occurred during the financial year between entities in the wholly-owned group were: 

 

 * accounting and administrative services 

 * management fees 

 * reimbursement for expenses incurred 

 

(c) Directors’ remuneration 

 

 Details of directors’ remuneration are disclosed in Note 5 to the financial statements. 
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(d) Directors’ equity holdings 

 

 The following table sets out each director’s relevant interest in shares and options in the company at 31st March 
2000. 

 
 

Directors Fully Paid Ordinary Shares Share Options 

G. A. Tomlinson     100,000  60,000 

M. J. Findlay  1,000,000  250,000 

S. M. Oliver       *2,400  50,000 

B. J. Pollock -  50,000 

 
 
* Beneficial interest. 
 

 

(e) Controlling entity 

 

 The parent entity in the economic entity is Programmed Maintenance Services Limited. 

 

 

 

34. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows 
 

(a) Reconciliation of Cash 

 

 For the purposes of statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and in the banks and investments in money 

market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.   Cash at the end of the financial year, as shown in the 

statement of cash flows, is reconciled to the related items in the balance sheet as follows: 

 

 

   CONSOLIDATED COMPANY 

   2000 1999    2000 1999 

   $  $     $  $ 

 

  Cash  2,713,455  3,714,022    2,711,883 3,712,422 

  Bank overdraft  (1,654,298) (1,007,850)       (402,472)    (514,113) 

 

    1,059,157  2,706,172    2,309,411 3,198,309 

 

 

 

 

 

 

        



49Programmed Maintenance Services Limited • Annual Report 2000

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2000 

 

 

   CONSOLIDATED COMPANY 

   2000 1999 2000 1999 

   $  $  $ $ 

(b) Business Acquired 

 

 During the financial year, one controlled 

 operating entity was acquired.  Details of the 

 acquisition are as follows: 

 

 Consideration 

  Cash  7,420,000                  -               -                    - 

 

    7,420,000                 -               -                    - 

 Fair value of net assets acquired 

 

 Current assets 

  Inventories    319,735               -              -                     - 

  Receivables   8,992,851               -               -                   - 

 Non-current assets 

  Property, plant and equipment    1,437,289               -              -                   - 

  Receivables  10,284,989               -              -         - 

 Current liabilities 

  Bank overdraft    (381,077)               -              -                    - 

  Creditors and borrowings  (2,306,216)               -              -         - 

  Provisions    (502,060)               -              -         - 

 Non-current liabilities 

  Creditors and borrowings  (5,122,510)               -              -         - 

  Provisions  (5,203,535)               -              -         - 

  

Net assets acquired  7,519,466               -              -         - 

 Discount on acquisition      (99,466)                           -              -                     -  

 

    7,420,000                            -                           -                     -                    

 Net cash outflow on acquisition 

  Cash consideration  7,420,000               -              - 

  Add bank overdraft      381,077               -              -                      - 

 

    7,801,077               -              -                      - 

(c) Financing Facilities 

 

  1. Credit standby arrangements 

    (a) Secured bill acceptance facility 

     Amount used   23,500,000  31,500,000 23,500,000  31,500,000 

     Amount unused     5,500,000                               -     5,500,000                   - 

 

       29,000,000  31,500,000 29,000,000  31,500,000 

   (b) Secured bank overdraft facility 

     payable at call 

     Amount used  1,654,298  1,007,850 402,472 514,113 

     Amount unused       45,702         92,150            97,528               85,887 

 

       1,700,000  1,100,000 500,000  600,000 

   (c) Secured line of credit 

     Amount used                 -              -             -      - 

     Amount unused                 -    800,000                       - 800,000 

 

                      -    800,000                       - 800,000 



Notes to the Financial Statements 
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   CONSOLIDATED COMPANY 

   2000 1999 2000 1999 

   $  $  $  $ 

 

 

  2. Bank guarantee loan facility 

    Amount used      649,194 712,902 594,744 670,230 

    Amount unused      150,806      87,098    155,256        79,770 

 

        800,000    800,000    750,000     750,000 

 

 

(d) Reconciliation of Net Cash used in Operating 

  Activities to Operating Profit after Income Tax 

 

  Operating profit after tax 12,675,822 5,525,922    9,540,261 5,525,922 

  Write back of investment and loan to  

      subsidiary company           - - (213,764) (186,969) 

  Depreciation   5,199,201 4,214,751 3,327,775   3,171,830 

  Amortisation - Plant and equipment        74,609 235,407 12,109 39,228 

    -  Intangibles        10,020 10,020 - - 

  Profit on sale of non-current assets     (346,476) (335,566) (352,092) (340,346) 

  Changes in assets and liabilities net of the 

  effect from the acquisition of business: 

    Increase in receivables   (1,792,308) (2,393,299) (895,801) (1,472,091) 

    Decrease in inventories         35,956 1,283,027 4,516 1,311,242 

    Increase in other debtors   (1,433,963) (1,099,251) (1,385,891) (1,172,717) 

    Decrease/(increase) in prepayments       746,030 (138,879) 803,615 (130,861) 

    Increase in contracts in progress (11,601,603) (4,884,308) (5,604,338) (4,884,308) 

    Increase in income tax balances    2,766,838 3,221,600 1,502,395 3,101,783 

    Increase/(decrease) in creditors      (667,146) 1,771,685 (2,224,824) 1,338,137 

    Increase in provision for employee entitlements       726,170    373,201    507,599    311,057 

  

   Net Cash used in Operating Activities 6,393,150 7,784,310 5,021,560 6,611,907 
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Directors' Declaration 
 
 
The directors declare that: 
 
a) The attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with accounting standards; 
 
b) The attached financial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the financial position and 

performance of the company and the consolidated entity; 
 
c) In the directors' opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the 

Corporations Law;  and 
 
d) In the directors' opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts 

as and when they become due and payable. 
 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the Corporations Law. 
 
 
On behalf of the Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
G. A. Tomlinson        M. J. Findlay  
Director         Director 
 
 
 
13th June 2000 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
     

 
 
The directors declare that: 
 
a) The attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with accounting standards; 
 
b) The attached financial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the financial position and 

performance of the company and the consolidated entity; 
 
c) In the directors' opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the 

Corporations Law;  and 
 
d) In the directors' opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts 

as and when they become due and payable. 
 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the Corporations Law. 
 
 
On behalf of the Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
G. A. Tomlinson        M. J. Findlay  
Director         Director 
 
 
 
13th June 2000 
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Independent Audit Report 
 
 

 

Independent Audit Report to the Members of Programmed Maintenance Services 
Limited 
 

Scope 
 
We have audited the financial report of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited for the financial year ended 31 March 
2000 as set out on pages 26 - 51.  The financial report includes the consolidated financial statements of the consolidated 
entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.  
The company’s directors are responsible for the financial report.  We have conducted an independent audit of the financial 
report in order to express an opinion on it to the members of the company. 
 
Our audit has been conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards to provide reasonable assurance whether 
the financial report is free of material misstatement.  Our procedures included examination, on a test basis, of evidence 
supporting the amounts and other disclosures in the financial report, and the evaluation of accounting policies and significant 
accounting estimates.  These procedures have been undertaken to form an opinion whether, in all material respects, the 
financial report is presented fairly in accordance with Accounting Standards issued in Australia and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements and statutory requirements so as to present a view which is consistent with our 
understanding of the company’s and the consolidated entity’s financial position, and performance as represented by the 
results of their operations and their cash flows. 
 
The audit opinion expressed in this report has been formed on the above basis. 
 

Audit Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial report of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited is in accordance with: 
 
(a) the Corporations Law, including: 
 
 (i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 31 March 2000 

and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and 
 
 (ii) complying with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations; and 
 
(b) other mandatory professional reporting requirements. 
 
 
DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 
 
 
 
 
 
J C Brant 
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 
 
Melbourne, 21 June 2000 
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Shareholding Report 
 
 

 
• Number of Holders of Equity Securities 

64,500,000 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 2,127 individual shareholders.  All ordinary shares of the Company 
carry one vote per share. 

 
• Substantial Shareholders as at 15th June 2000 

 

Commonwealth Bank of Australia and Colonial Limited and associates   13,375,705 

National Australia Bank Limited and associates 7,804,100 
Mercantile Mutual Holdings Limited and associates 6,427,725 
NM Rothschild Australia Holdings Pty. Limited and associates 4,426,593 

 
• Distribution of Shareholdings as at 15th June 2000 

 
        Range                         No. of Holders 
 
 1 - 1,000 723 
 1,001 -  5,000 882 
 5,001 - 10,000 284 
 10,001 -  100,000 185 
 100,001 -  over      53 
 
    2,127 
 

Number of holdings less than a marketable: 347 
 

• 1,950,000 options are held by 30 individual option holders (no voting rights) 

 

• The 20 largest shareholders at 15th June 2000 

 
 Name No. of Shares Percentages 
 
National Nominees Limited 8,988,030 13.93% 
Chase Manhattan Nominees Limited 4,702,915 7.29% 
Permanent Trustee Australia Limited 
<FIR0005 A/C> 3,750,316 5.81% 
Permanent Trustee Australia Limited 
<FIR0023 A/C> 3,694,300 5.73% 
Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited 3,065,000 4.75% 
Queensland Investment Corporation 2,500,000 3.88% 
Citicorp Nominees Pty. Limited 2,369,000 3.67% 
Commonwealth Custodial Services Ltd. 2,255,000 3.50% 
Perpetual Trustees Nominees Limited 2,222,410 3.45% 
Mercantile Mutual Life Insurance Co. Ltd. 2,005,394 3.11% 
Sandhurst Trustees Ltd. 1,782,000 2.76% 
Norwich Union Life Australia Ltd. 1,415,900 2.20% 
Calex Nominees Pty. Ltd. 1,331,696 2.06% 
Maxwell John Findlay 1,000,000 1.55% 
Perpetual Trustee Company Limited 1,000,000 1.55% 
Colonial Investment Services Limited 875,000 1.36% 
National Nominees Limited 873,000 1.35% 
Questor Financial Services Limited 683,460 1.06% 
Australian Foundation Investment Co. Ltd. 636,334 0.99% 
Metal Industries Pty. Limited      620,000    0.96% 
 
Top 20 Shareholders 45,769,755 70.96% 

53Programmed Maintenance Services Limited • Annual Report 2000



Corporate Directory 
 

 

Board of Directors 

G. A. Tomlinson, Chairman    Appointed 25th August 1999 
M. J. Findlay, Managing Director 
S. M. Oliver Appointed 25th August 1999 
B. J. Pollock Appointed 25th August 1999 
 
Secretary 

G. C. Snell 
 
Auditors 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
505 Bourke Street 
Melbourne   3000 
 
Solicitors 

Gadens Lawyers 
333 Collins Street 
Melbourne   3000 
 
McPherson & Kelley 
AMP Tower, Level 1 
535 Bourke Street 
Melbourne   3000 
 
Banker 

Westpac Banking Corporation 
360 Collins Street 
Melbourne   3000 
 
Registered Office 

52 Ricketts Road 
Mount Waverley   3149 
Telephone (03) 9562 8033 
Facsimile   (03) 9562 8413 
 
Share Register 

Computershare Registry Services Pty. Limited 
Level 12 
565 Bourke Street 
Melbourne   3000 
Telephone (03) 9615 5970 
 
 
Stock Exchange Listing 

Australian Stock Exchange 
530 Collins Street 
Melbourne   3000 
 
 
Internet Web Site 

www.pms-pl.com.au 
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PMS Branch Network 
 Telephone Facsimile 

GROUP HEAD OFFICE 

 

Mt. Waverley 52 Ricketts Road, 3149 (03) 9562 8033 (03) 9562 8413 
 
PAINTING DIVISIONS Telephone Facsimile 

 

Victoria 

Mt. Waverley 26-30 Gilby Road, 3149 (03) 9544 5777 (03) 9543 8075 
Tullamarine 4/5 Tullamarine Park Road, 3043 (03) 9335 3599 (03) 9335 3899 
North Geelong 12 Morgan Street, 3215 (03) 5272 2127 (03) 5272 2136 
Shepparton Unit 5 Grant Court, 3630 (03) 5831 2555 (03) 5831 2626 
Morwell 16 Swan Road, 3840 (03) 5134 8955 (03) 5133 7561 
Wodonga 3/10 Trafalgar Street, 3690 (02) 6024 7333 (02) 6024 7444 
Ballarat Suite 1, L2, 11 Lydiard Street Sth, 3350 (03) 5333 4688 (03) 5333 2820 
 
Tasmania 

Moonah 8 Pearl Street, 7009 (03) 6272 3033 (03) 6273 1402 
Newstead 1/61 Cypress Street, 7250 (03) 6334 1045 (03) 6334 1591 
 
New South Wales 

Auburn Unit C, 302 Parramatta Road, 2144 (02) 9748 7088 (02) 9748 7151 
Unanderra 6 Sylvester Avenue, 2526 (02) 4272 5566 (02) 4272 5560 
Waratah 1/33 Crescent Road, 2298 (02) 4967 5088 (02) 4968 4780 
Orange 3/22 Scott Place, Leewood Estate, 2800 (02) 6369 1199 (02) 6361 1211 
Nemingah 849 Armidale Road, 2340 (02) 6760 9077 (02) 6760 9728 
Wyoming 5/6 Brooks Avenue, 2250 (02) 4329 7096 (02) 4329 7094 
 
South Australia 

Allenby Gardens 604 Port Road (08) 8346 9944 (08) 8346 7455 
 
ACT 

Fyshwick 3/11 Lithgow Street, 2609 (02) 6280 5677 (02) 6280 7146 
 
Queensland 

Rocklea 16 Shoebury Street, 4106 (07) 3892 1622 (07) 3892 3159 
Garbutt 11/405 Bayswater Road, 4814 (07) 4775 5288 (07) 4725 1365 
Rockhampton 16 Dooley Street, 4701 (07) 4922 2305 (07) 4922 3693 
 
Western Australia 

Welshpool 107 Kew Street, 6106 (08) 9361 8322 (08) 9470 2379 
Kalgoorlie 32 Leviathan Street, 6430 (08) 9093 3372 (08) 9093 3352 
Bunbury James Commercial Centre (08) 9791 3803 (08) 9791 3806 
 6/8 George Street, 6230 
 
Northern Territory 

Winnellie Unit 2, Lot 4 Roni Court, 0820 (08) 8947 0192 (08) 8947 0505 
 
New Zealand 

Auckland 44 Greenpark Road, Penrose (649) 571 0610 (649) 575 0727 
Nth Auckland Unit D, 8 Vega Place, Mairangi Bay (649) 476 3203 (649) 476 3204 
Hamilton 14 Perclo Place, Te Rapa (647) 849 7100 (647) 849 7120 
Mt. Maunganui 3/64 Hewletts Road (647) 575 3358 (647) 575 8226 
Rotorua 74A Tallyho Street (647) 349 6445 (647) 349 6447 
Wellington 5 Prosser Street, Elsdon, Porirua (644) 237 4810 (644) 237 8997 
Taranaki 6/55 Rimu Road, Fitzroy, New Plymouth (646) 757 8400 (646) 757 8401 
Palmerston North 2/477 Rangitikei Street (646) 357 7142 (646) 357 7144 
Christchurch 41A Shakespeare Road, Waltham (643) 365 2357 (643) 365 2379 
Dunedin 46 Cresswell Street (643) 477 5400 (643) 477 1550 
Nelson 53C Bolt Road, Tahunanui (643) 547 1366 (643) 547 1367 
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GROUNDS DIVISIONS Telephone Facsimile 

 
Head Office 

Mt. Waverley 52 Ricketts Road, 3149 (03) 9562 8033 (03) 9562 8413 
 
New South Wales 

Auburn Unit C, 302 Parramatta Road, 2144 (02) 9748 7088 (02) 9748 7151 
 
South Australia 

Hindmarsh 1 Susan Street, 5007 (08) 8241 7505 (08) 8241 7791 
 
 
ENGINEERING DIVISIONS 

 
Head Office 

Mt. Waverley 52 Ricketts Road, 3149 (03) 9562 8033 (03) 9562 8413 
 
South Australia 

Hindmarsh 1 Susan Street, 5007 (08) 8241 7505 (08) 8241 7791 
 
 
CORPORATE IMAGING DIVISIONS 

 
Victoria 

Mt. Waverley 26-30 Gilby Road, 3149 (03) 9544 5777 (03) 9543 8075 
 
New South Wales 

Auburn Unit C, 302 Parramatta Road, 2144 (02) 9748 7122 (02) 9748 7151 
 
Queensland 

Springwood Suite 21B, Plaza Chambers (07) 3290 0799 (07) 3290 0638 
 3-15 Dennis Street, 4127 
 
Western Australia 

Welshpool 107 Kew Street, 6106 (08) 9361 8322 (08) 9470 2379 
 
South Australia 

Allenby Gardens 604 Port Road, 5009 (08) 8346 9944 (08) 8346 7455 
 
 
BARRY BROS SPECIALISED SERVICES DIVISIONS 

 
Head Office  (Accounts/Admin) 

Mulgrave 10-16 Geddes Street, 3170 (03) 9562 1020 (03) 9562 2999 
 
Victoria  (Operations) 

Mulgrave 10-16 Geddes Street, 3170 (03) 9574 9888 (03) 9562 2999 
Geelong North 12 Morgan Street, 3215 (03) 5272 2221 (03) 5272 2136 
Morwell 16 Swan Road, 3840 (03) 5133 7055 (03) 5133 7561 
Shepparton Unit 5 Grant Court, 3630 (03) 5831 6639 (03) 5831 2626 
 
New South Wales 

Regents Park 20 Auburn Road, 2143 (02) 9743 7677 (02) 9743 7856 
Sydney Airport Ross Smith Avenue, Mascot, 2020 (02) 8338 0270 
 
Queensland 

Albion 5/12 Bimbil Street, 4010 (07) 3256 1866 (07) 3256 0734 
Rockhampton 16 Dooley Street, 4700 (07) 4921 2800 (07) 4922 3693 
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Our Vision
Our vision is to be acknowledged as the leading Australian & New Zealand property service group

when measured against world best practice.

Our Mission
Our Clients

To identify and satisfy the needs of our clients by providing asset management services where quality,

safety and cost effectiveness are achieved through a commitment to excellence.

Our People
To provide a workplace environment where participation enables our people to achieve a satisfying

and rewarding career.

Our Shareholders
To pursue all aspects of the Company's business in a responsible, efficient and profitable manner,

thereby optimising the interests of its shareholders.

PRINCIPAL OFFICE

REGIONAL OFFICE



For further information regarding Programmed Maintenance Services 
fax your request to Australia (03) 9562 8413 
or email us at : marketing@pms-pl.com.au 

or phone our free call no’s.

Australia
1800 620 911

New Zealand
0800 620 911

or catch us on the web 
www.pms-pl.com.au 
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